One-Pot Iodine-Mediated Synthesis of Cannabinol and Derivatives



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Chemistry Department of Chemistry Faculty Of Science Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2023 การสังเคราะห์แคนนาบินอลและอนุพันธ์แบบวันพอตโดยใช้ไอโอดีนเป็นตัวกลาง



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเคมี คณะวิทยาศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2566

Thesis Title	One-Pot Iodine-Mediated Synthesis of Cannabinol and		
	Derivatives		
Ву	Mr. Mongkonkorn Thanakorncharoenwit		
Field of Study	Chemistry		
Thesis Advisor	Professor TIRAYUT VILAIVAN, Ph.D.		
Thesis Co Advisor	Assistant Professor TANATORN KHOTAVIVATTANA, Ph.D.		

Accepted by the FACULTY OF SCIENCE, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

THESIS COMMITTEE

Chairman (Professor SUMRIT WACHARASINDHU, Ph.D.) \_\_\_\_\_\_Thesis Advisor (Professor TIRAYUT VILAIVAN, Ph.D.) \_\_\_\_\_\_Thesis Co-Advisor (Assistant Professor TANATORN KHOTAVIVATTANA, Ph.D.) \_\_\_\_\_\_Examiner (Assistant Professor PANUWAT PADUNGROS, Ph.D.) \_\_\_\_\_\_External Examiner

(Associate Professor Chaturong Suparpprom, Ph.D.)

มงคลกรณ์ ธนากรเจริญวิทย์ : การสังเคราะห์แคนนาบินอลและอนุพันธ์แบบวันพอตโดยใช้ไอโอดีนเป็น ตัวกลาง. ( One-Pot lodine-Mediated Synthesis of Cannabinol and Derivatives) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ศ. ดร.ธีรยุทธ วิไลวัลย์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : ผศ. ดร.ธนธรณ์ ขอทวีวัฒนา

้แคนนาบินอล (CBN) เป็นสารจากพืชตระกูลกัญชาที่พบในปริมาณน้อยและแสดงฤทธิ์ทางชีวภาพที่ หลากหลายโดยแสดงผลกระทบต่อระบบจิตประสาท วิธีหนึ่งที่ใช้ในการสังเคราะห์ CBN คือปฏิกิริยาระหว่างสารประกอบ เทอร์พีนอยด์และอนุพันธ์ของรีซิอร์สซินอลผ่านกระบวนการต่อเนื่องหลายขั้นตอนที่ประกอบด้วยปฏิกิริยาฟรีเดล-คราฟต์ แอลคิเลชัน, การปิดวง, และการเกิดอะโรมาไทซ์ ในการศึกษานี้ ผู้วิจัยคาดว่าไอโอดีนสามารถทำหน้าที่เป็นลิวอิสแอซิดซึ่ง เป็นตัวเร่งปฏิกิริยาและตัวทำให้เกิดการอะโรมาไทซ์ ดังนั้นจึงได้พัฒนาปฏิกิริยาระหว่าง (1*5,4R)-p*-menthadienol และ 5-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)resorcinol ที่มีไอโอดีนเป็นตัวกลางในรูปแบบวันพอตสำหรับการสังเคราะห์ 3-(1,1dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN) โดยได้มีการประเมินตัวแปรต่าง ๆ ของปฏิกิริยา และศึกษาร้อยละผลได้ ของผลิตภัณฑ์จากปฏิกิริยาโดย <sup>1</sup>H NMR พบว่า ภาวะที่เหมาะสมคือการใช้สารตั้งต้น 1.5 และ 1.0 อีควิวาเลนต์ และ ไอโอดีน 5.0 อีควิวาเลนต์ในตัวทำละลายโทลูอีนที่อุณหภูมิรีฟลักซ์เป็นเวลา 1 ชั่วโมง ให้ผลผลิตเป็น DMH-CBN ที่แยกได้ ถึง 71% ปฏิกิริยาเดียวกันนี้ภายใต้ภาวะไมโครเวฟให้ผลิตภัณฑ์เดียวกันโดยมีร้อยละผลได้จาก NMR เป็น 30% วิธี เดียวกันนี้สามารถนำไปใช้ในการสังเคราะห์ CBN จากซิทรัลเป็นสารตั้งต้นเทอร์พีนอยด์ที่มีราคาถูก และโอลิฟทอล โดยให้ ผลิตภัณฑ์ที่คาดไว้และแยกได้ถึง 22% การศึกษาขอบเขตของสารตั้งต้นพบกว่าวิธีการสังเคราะห์ CBN โดยใช้ไอโอดีนใน รูปแบบวันพอตนี้สามารถให้ผลผลิตเป็นอนุพันธ์ CBN ที่มีหมู่แทนที่ชนิดแอลคิล รวมถึง CBN ที่ไม่มีหมู่แทนที่ที่ตำแหน่ง C3 ที่แยกได้ระหว่าง 28–63% สำหรับ CBN ที่ไม่มีหมู่แทนที่เมื่อทำปฏิกิริยากับ เอ็น-โบรโมซักซินิไดด์ 1.0 หรือ 2.0 อีควิ วาเลนต์ให้ผลิตภัณฑ์เป็นอนุพันธ์ 4-โบรโม และ 2,4-ไดโบรโม โดยมีร้อยละผลผลิตที่แยกได้เป็น 63% และ 90% ้ตามลำดับ อย่างไรก็ตาม ภาวะนี้ไม่เหมาะสมกับรีซอร์สซินอลที่มีหมู่แทนที่แบบดึงอิเล็กตรอน โดยไม่ให้ผลิตภัณฑ์ที่ ต้องการหรือได้ในปริมาณน้อยมาก อนุพันธ์ CBN ที่สังเคราะห์ได้บางชนิดได้นำมาประเมินประสิทธิภาพในการป้องกันการ ทำลายเซลล์เยื่อบุผิวผ่านการทดสอบ transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) โดยพบว่า 2,4-ไดเอทิล CBN และ อนุพันธ์, 4-โบรโม และ 2,4-ไดโบรโม ของ CBN ที่ปราศจากหมู่แทนที่ที่ตำแหน่ง C3 แสดงฤทธิ์ที่ดีกว่า CBN ธรรมชาติ ด้งนั้นสารเหล่านี้อาจเป็นตัวเลือกใหม่ของอนุพันธ์แคนนาบินอยด์ที่ใช้รักษาอาการบาดเจ็บของเซลล์เยื่อบุผิวได้

# CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

สาขาวิชา เคมี ปีการศึกษา 2566

ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาห	ลัก
ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่ว	าม

#### # # 6370020023 : MAJOR CHEMISTRY

KEYWORD: cannabinoids, cannabinol derivatives, Friedel-Crafts alkylation, iodine-mediated reaction, one-pot synthesis

Mongkonkorn Thanakorncharoenwit : One-Pot Iodine-Mediated Synthesis of Cannabinol and Derivatives. Advisor: Prof. TIRAYUT VILAIVAN, Ph.D. Co-advisor: Asst. Prof. TANATORN KHOTAVIVATTANA, Ph.D.

Cannabinol (CBN) is a minor cannabinoid that exhibits a broad range of medicinal activities without psychoactive effects. CBN derivatives have been typically synthesized from a terpenoid and a resorcinol derivative, through a multistep reaction including the Friedel-Crafts alkylation, cyclization, and aromatization. In this study, we envisioned that iodine could act as a Lewis acid catalyst and an aromatization agent. Consequently, we developed a one-pot iodine-mediated reaction between (15,4R)-p-menthadienol and 5-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)resorcinol for the synthesis of 3-(1,1dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN). Various reaction parameters were evaluated, and the reaction yields were analyzed by quantitative <sup>1</sup>H NMR. The optimized reaction conditions were found to be 1.5 and 1.0 equivalent of starting materials with 5.0 equivalents of iodine in toluene at refluxing temperature for 1 hr, giving DMH-CBN in 71% isolated yield. This reaction under the microwaveassisted condition gave the same product in 30% NMR yield. The same method could be applied to the synthesis of natural CBN from citral as an inexpensive terpenoid starting material and olivetol, providing the expected product in 22% isolated yield. Substrate scope investigation revealed that this one-pot iodine-mediated synthesis of CBN could produce 28-63% isolated yields of alkyl-substituted CBN derivatives, including the C3-unsubstituted CBN. This unsubstituted CBN reacted with 1.0 or 2.0 equivalents of N-bromosuccinimide to yield 4-bromo and 2,4-dibromo derivatives at 63% and 90% isolated yield, respectively. However, this condition was incompatible with resorcinols bearing electron-withdrawing groups, yielding no or very small amounts of the desired product. Some synthesized CBN derivatives were evaluated for their protective role in the epithelial barrier through the transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) assay. The results indicated that 2,4-diethyl CBN, 4bromo, and 2,4-dibromo derivatives of C3-unsubstituted CBN showed better activities than natural CBN. This suggests that they could potentially serve as new candidates from the cannabinoid series, aiding in the resealing of tight junctions.

Field of Study: Chemistry Academic Year: 2023 Student's Signature ..... Advisor's Signature ..... Co-advisor's Signature .....

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Dr. Tirayut Vilaivan, and Assistant Professor Dr. Tanatorn Khotavivattana, for their unwavering guidance and constant support throughout the entire research process. I am also grateful to the members of the TV and TK laboratories for their kind and friendly vibes.

I extend my appreciation to my friends and colleagues who provided assistance, shared ideas, and offered moral support during this academic journey. Special thanks to all the members of my CU Science Dancesport Club for creating a comfort zone for me.

Grateful thanks go to my family for their infinite love, understanding, and endless encouragement. Their support has been my anchor during challenging times, and I am truly fortunate to have them by my side.

A big thank you to all the games and gaming societies for providing an easy and small happiness that I could rely on every single day, helping me maintain my mental well-being throughout my academic life. Thanks to every single moment, story, and character that I encountered, especially Furina de Fontaine for being an icon of patience. At the time when I was facing challenges in writing a thesis, I tried to have fun with it instead, as she said, "Le monde n'est qu'une scène. Il vaut mieux rire que pleurer."

Finally, I gratefully acknowledge the scholarship from the Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University, commemorating the 72nd Anniversary of His Majesty King Bhumibol Adulyadej and the 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University. Without this support, this research would not have been possible.

Mongkonkorn Thanakorncharoenwit

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	9
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	
iv	
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURESix	
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION 1	
1.1 Cannabinol	
1.2 Transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) essay, Ca <sup>2+</sup> switch assay and effect of	
cannabinoids to tight junction resealing2	
1.3 Previous synthesis of cannabinoids including CBN	
1.4 Iodine-mediated synthesis of cannabinol and objective7	
CHAPTER II EXPERIMENTAL SECTION	
2.1 Materials	
2.2 Spectroscopic measurements	
2.2.1 Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy	
2.2.2 Quantitative NMR (qNMR)10	
2.2.3 Infrared (IR) spectroscopy11	
2.2.4 Mass Spectrometry (MS)11	

2.3 Melting point measurements	11
2.4 %Purity measurements	11
2.5 Reaction optimization	11
2.5.1 Optimization of DMH-CBN synthesis	11
2.5.2 Optimization of CBN synthesis	12
2.6 Synthesis and characterization of cannabinol derivatives	12
2.6.1 Synthesis of alkyl-substituted cannabinol derivatives	12
2.6.2 Synthesis of bromo-substituted cannabinol derivatives	15
2.7 Ca <sup>2+</sup> switch assay and measurement of transepithelial electrical resistance	
(TER)	17
CHAPTER III RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	18
3.1 Optimization of DMH-CBN synthesis	18
3.2 Optimization of CBN synthesis	25
3.3 Substrate scope	30
3.4 Synthesis of DMH-CBN via microwave-assisted reaction	39
3.5 Synthesis of unsubstituted cannabinol and bromo derivatives as key	
intermediates for further derivatization	40
3.6 Measurement of transepithelial electrical resistance (TER)	45
CHAPTER IV CONCLUSION	49
REFERENCES	51
APPENDIX	55
VITA	83

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 <sup>1</sup> H NMR chemical shifts of 3a compared with the literature data <sup>21</sup>	20
Table 3.2 Preliminary optimization of the quantities of starting materials and reager	١t
	21
Table 3.3 Effects of additional reaction parameters including reaction times, iodine	
sources, solvents, temperatures and additive in synthesis of DMH-CBN ( <b>3a</b> )	24
Table 3.4 Investigation of terpenoids as starting material for synthesis of 3b	26
Table 3.5 <sup>1</sup> H NMR chemical shifts of 3b compared with reference <sup>32, 33</sup>	28
Table 3.6 Effects of additional reaction parameters including amount of iodine,	
reaction times and solvents in synthesis of <b>3b</b>	30
Table 3.7 Substrate scope of resorcinol derivatives $(1a-q)$ and terpenoids $(2a-b)$	33
Table 3.8 Synthesis of 3a under microwave-assisted conditions	40
Table A1. %Purity of cannabinol derivatives	68

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

# LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1.1 Structure of cannabidiol (CBD), $\Delta$ 9-tetrahydrocannabinol ( $\Delta$ 9-THC) and cannabinol (CBN)
Figure 1.2 The sealing of the intercellular space between epithelial cells with tight junction
<b>Figure 1.3</b> TER assay and Ca <sup>2+</sup> switch assay for observation of tight junction opening and resealing
Figure 1.4 Synthesis of cannabinol from 6-dibenzo[b,d]pyran-6-one derivative
Figure 1.5 Synthesis of cannabinol via photosplicing reaction
Figure 1.6 Synthesis of cannabinoid compounds from terpenoids and resorcinol         derivatives         7
Figure 3.1 qNMR analysis (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) of <b>3a</b> compared to I.S
Figure 3.2 <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3a
<b>Figure 3.3</b> Proposed mechanism of iodine-catalyzed Friedel-Craft alkylation
elimination process
Figure 3.5 A proposed mechanism of iodine-mediated reaction between 1b and 2b
Figure 3.6 <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of <b>3b</b> 27
Figure 3.7 A hetero Diels-Alder reaction of intermediate leading to CBC
Figure 3.8 An alternative reaction of 1b with citral leading to abnormal THC
Figure 3.9 Example of preliminary characterization and qNMR analysis (500 MHz, $CDCl_3$ ) from a crude reaction mixture
<b>Figure 3.10</b> The Friedel-Craft alkylation at C4 or C6 of a resorcinol derivative leading to abnormal CBN

Figure 3.11 <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of confirming the de-tert-butylation	
through absence of 4,6-di-tert-butyl groups protons in compound <b>30</b>	5
Figure 3.12 A proposed mechanism for the formation of 30 through the de-tert-	
butylation reaction	6
Figure 3.13 Comparison of synthesis of unsubstituted CBN (30) between previous	
report and this work	6
Figure 3.14 $^{1}$ H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectra of reaction crude between 1g and HI	
compared to <b>1o</b>	7
Figure 3.15 Structure, NMR yields and isolated yields of cannabinol derivatives 3	9
Figure 3.16 <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of the dibromination product 3r 4	1
Figure 3.17 DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 3r	2
Figure 3.18 <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3s	3
Figure 3.19 <sup>1</sup> H- <sup>13</sup> C HMBC NMR spectrum of 3s	4
Figure 3.20 <sup>1</sup> H- <sup>13</sup> C HSQC NMR spectrum of 3s	4
Figure 3.21 DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 3s	4
Figure 3.22 Bromination of 3o to give 3s and 3r 4	5
Figure 3.23 Comparison of <sup>1</sup> H NMR spectra of 3r obtained from different bromination	١
methods	5
Figure 3.24 Effect of cannabinol derivatives to change in %TER for 25 and 100 $\mu\text{M}.4$	7
Figure A1. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)cannabine	շլ
(DMH-CBN, <b>3a</b> )	6
Figure A2. <sup>13</sup> C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)cannabinol	
(DMH-CBN, <b>3a</b> )	6
Figure A3. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of cannabinol (CBN, <b>3b</b> )	7
Figure A4. <sup>13</sup> C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of cannabinol (CBN, <b>3b</b> )	7

<b>Figure A5.</b> <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3-isopropylcannabinol (iPr-CBN, <b>3c</b> )
<b>Figure A6.</b> <sup>13</sup> C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3-isopropylcannabinol (iPr-CBN, <b>3c</b> )
<b>Figure A7.</b> <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe- CBN, <b>3d</b> )
Figure A8. <sup>13</sup> C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe- CBN, <b>3d</b> )
Figure A9. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3-cyclohexylcannabinol (Cy-CBN, 3e)
Figure A10. <sup>13</sup> C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 3-cyclohexylcannabinol (Cy-CBN,         3e)
Figure A11. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, 3f)
Figure A12. <sup>13</sup> C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, 3f)
Figure A13. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0, 30)
<b>Figure A14.</b> <sup>13</sup> C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN- C0, <b>30</b> )
Figure A15. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s) 63
Figure A16. <sup>13</sup> C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, <b>3s</b> )63
<b>Figure A17.</b> <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 2,4-dibromocannabinol (CBN-Br <sub>2</sub> , <b>3r</b> )
Figure A18. <sup>13</sup> C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 2,4-dibromocannabinol (CBN-Br <sub>2</sub> , 3r)
Figure A19. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-d <sub>6</sub> ) spectrum of 5-phenylresorcinol

Figure A20. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-d <sub>6</sub> ) spectrum of 5-naphthylresorcinol65
Figure A21. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-d <sub>6</sub> ) spectrum of 5-bromoresorcinol
Figure A22. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl <sub>3</sub> ) spectrum of 4,6-diethylresorcinol66
Figure A23. <sup>1</sup> H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-d <sub>6</sub> ) spectrum of 5-decylamino(oxo)resorcinol. 67
<b>Figure A24.</b> HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 3-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN, <b>3a</b> ); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil <sup><math>M</math></sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H <sub>2</sub> O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector
<b>Figure A25.</b> HPLC chromatogram and %purity of cannabinol (CBN, <b>3b</b> ); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil <sup>™</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H <sub>2</sub> O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector
Figure A26. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 3-isopropylcannabinol (iPr-CBN, 3c); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil™ BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H <sub>2</sub> O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector
Figure A27. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe-CBN, 3d) ; analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil <sup><math>M</math></sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H <sub>2</sub> O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector
Figure A28. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 3-cyclohexylcannabinol (Cy-CBN, 3e); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil™ BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H₂O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector
<b>Figure A29.</b> HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, <b>3f</b> ); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil <sup>™</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H <sub>2</sub> O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector

Figure A30. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0,
<b>30</b> ); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil™ BDS C18 HPLC Column
Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in $H_2O$ , 0.5 mL/min
flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector71

Figure A31. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>™</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector.....72

Figure A32. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 2,4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br<sub>2</sub>, 3r); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil™ BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector......72 

Figure A33.	ATR-IR spectrum of	3-(1,1-dime	thylheptyl)can	nabinol (D	MH-CBN, 3	<b>3a</b> ) 73
		/// MAMA				

	Summer Summer		
Figure A35. ATR-IR spectrum	of 3-isopropylcan	inabinol (iPr-CBN, <b>3c</b>	)74

Figure	A36.	ATR-IR spectrum of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe-CBN, 3d)	74
<b>-</b> :	A 9 7	ATD ID and the set (2 - set a low a low a low a low (C - CDN 2-)	75

Figure AST. ATR-IN spectrum of 3-cyclonexylcannabinol (cy-cbi), 3e)	. 13
Figure A38. ATR-IR spectrum of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, 3f)	. 75
Figure A39. ATR-IR spectrum of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0, 30)	.76
Figure A40. ATR-IR spectrum of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s)	.76
Figure A41. ATR-IR spectrum of 2,4-dibromocannabinol (CBN-Br <sub>2</sub> , <b>3r</b> )	. 77
Figure A42. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 3-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-	
CBN, <b>3a</b> )	. 78

# Figure A43. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of cannabinol (CBN, 3b)......78

Figure A45. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe-CBN, 3d)
Figure A46. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 3-cyclohexylcannabinol (Cy-CBN, 3e)80
Figure A47. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, 3f)80
Figure A48. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0, 30)81
Figure A49. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s)81
Figure A50. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 2,4-dibromocannabinol (CBN-Br <sub>2</sub> , 3r)82



# CHAPTER I

## INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Cannabinol

Cannabis is a plant that got a lot of interest in the past few years, and the use of cannabis as a medicine was widely accepted in various countries. Consequently, there were many research which aimed to study its bioactive, such as tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) and cannabidiol (CBD), in terms of their structure, synthesis, biological mechanisms, applications, and so on. One of interesting bioactive compounds is cannabinol (CBN)<sup>1</sup> as chemical structure shown in **Figure 1.1** which is typically found in aged cannabis<sup>2</sup>. Normally, CBN is derived by the natural process from tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) through an oxidation reaction.<sup>3</sup>





cannabidiol (CBD)

∆9-tetrahydrocannabinol (THC)

cannabinol (CBN)

**Figure 1.1** Structure of cannabidiol (CBD),  $\triangle$ 9-tetrahydrocannabinol ( $\triangle$ 9-THC) and cannabinol (CBN)

จุฬาลงกรณํมหาวิทยาลัย

# **Chulalongkorn University**

CBN has plenty of medicinal activities, some of them are similar to those of cannabidiol (CBD) and THC. For examples, it has an anticonvulsant effect,<sup>4</sup> increases appetite through binding to cannabinoid receptor type I (CB<sub>1</sub>R),<sup>5</sup> stimulates the recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) from the bone marrow which are the cells that has a role in promoting of bone formation through the cannabinoid receptor type II (CB<sub>2</sub>R) interaction.<sup>6</sup> protect intestinal barrier from *in vitro* inflammation.<sup>7</sup> Additionally, CBN has an advantage over THC that it is not a psychoactive compound meaning it does not cause any addictive effects.<sup>8-10</sup> Among the different structures of CBN, the synthetic analog of CBN called 3-(1,1-

dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN) was found to be more effective in terms of binding to both  $CB_1R$  and  $CB_2R$ . It was also reported to show better activity in terms of inhibition of adenylyl cyclase (AC) than CBN which carries the normal pentyl substituent.<sup>11</sup>

# 1.2 Transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) essay, Ca<sup>2+</sup> switch assay and effect of cannabinoids to tight junction resealing

As mentioned, cannabinoid compounds have various interesting biological activities, one of which involves the tight junction resealing of the intestinal epithelium barrier (**Figure 1.2**), leading to anti-inflammatory activity. In 2021, Veronica et al. found that cannabinoids, such as THC and CBD, have the potential to protect the intestinal epithelium barrier. They discovered that CBD was the most promising compound against intestinal inflammation when induced cell monolayer with  $INF_{\gamma}+TNF_{\alpha}$ , an inflammatory stimulus. The results showed that CBD at both 0.1 and 1 µg/mL could increase %TER compared to the control.<sup>7</sup> Based on this evidence, cannabinol derivatives could be another potential compound that can affect the tight junction in the intestinal epithelium barrier.

**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 





For this experiment, two assays are needed to evaluate this biological activity. The first is the transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) assay, which is used to investigate the %TER of the barrier tissue model. This involves determining the cells resistance through the measurement of intestinal barrier voltage with two electrodes from both sides of the cell monolayer. Normally, this intestinal barrier has its own resistance value, which refers to 100% TER. However, a reduction in the integrity of the intestinal epithelium barrier, which can be a cause of the penetration of inflammatory stimuli such as microbes, leading to inflammation or other diseases, can make a drop in %TER. This change can be used to detect junctional opening or the disaggregation of tight junctions.<sup>12-14</sup> In the intestinal barrier, tight junctions are used to seal the intercellular space between epithelial cells, and their formation is sensitive to  $Ca^{2+}$  ions. Lack of  $Ca^{2+}$  can lead to the opening of the junctional protein

complex.<sup>13</sup> From this point,  $Ca^{2+}$  switch assay can be used to simulate the conditions for tight junction tightness which can infer to junctional opening or resealing. To summarize, the experiment can start with exposing cell monolayer in  $Ca^{2+}$ -free medium and detect the junctional opening through measurement of the drop of %TER, then switch to normal medium with some and observe the change in %TER (**Figure 1.3**).<sup>12</sup>



**Figure 1.3** TER assay and Ca<sup>2+</sup> switch assay for observation of tight junction opening and resealing

#### จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย

# 1.3 Previous synthesis of cannabinoids including CBN

Normally, extraction of products from the nature results in a mixture of various ingredients which need complicated isolation and gives only a small amount of each compound. That means, this process is not suitable for a huge production with high purity, so synthesis is a more appropriate and effective choice in terms of large-scale manufacturing and to save time in the process. On top of that, synthesis can facilitate structural modifications or functionalizations to produce various derivatives. In 2011, Bodwell and Nandaluru developed a method for synthesis of 6-dibenzo[b,d]pyran-6-one (DBP) through multicomponent reaction (MCR) and applied this method to total synthesis of CBN (Figure 1.4) by using 4-pentyl-6-methoxysalicylaldehyde, dimethyl glutaconate, pyrrolidine, and acetone to

synthesize DBP first, and then performing a few more steps to obtain a 3-23% overall yield of CBN.<sup>15</sup> This method required too many steps and a long time to complete, and also involved the use of transition metal compounds and organometallic reagents.



Figure 1.4 Synthesis of cannabinol from 6-dibenzo[b,d]pyran-6-one derivative<sup>15</sup>

Shortly thereafter, in 2018, Kloss et al. presented a more environmentally friendly method for the synthesis of biaryl compounds through a photosplicing reaction and applied to the synthesis of CBN (**Figure 1.5**). They condensed (2,6-

dimethoxy-4-pentylphenyl)methanamine with 2-cyano-5-methylbenzenesulfonyl chloride to form a sulfonamide intermediate. This intermediate was then irradiated with light to obtain a biaryl compound which can undergo further reactions and yielded a 15% overall yield of CBN.<sup>16</sup>



Figure 1.5 Synthesis of cannabinol via photosplicing reaction<sup>16</sup>

In another aspect, there was an interesting and popular strategy for synthesis of cannabinoid compounds using a condensation between terpenoids and resorcinol derivatives (Figure 1.6). This reaction could be used to obtain CBN without the use of metal compounds or organometallic reagents, and it also reduces the number of steps and is less time-consuming. Mechoulam et al. (1967), Petrzilka et al. (1969), and Razdan et al. (1974) successfully synthesized THC using this strategy with the help of some Lewis acids or Brønsted acid as a catalyst (such as BF<sub>3</sub> and p-TSA) to yield 19-53% yield of THC (Figure 1.6a and 1.6b). Normally, THC can be converted uncomplicatedly to CBN through aromatization reactions.<sup>17-19</sup> However, in 2018, Pollastro et al. presented a facile method that included the use of iodine as an aromatizing reagent (Figure 1.6c). This method is convenient to handle, safer than metal reagents and also inexpensive.<sup>20</sup> Then in 2019, Caprioglio et al. also aromatized THC to CBN with iodine after condensation of starting material with *n*-butylamine (Figure 1.6d).<sup>21</sup>



**Figure 1.6** Synthesis of cannabinoid compounds from terpenoids and resorcinol derivatives<sup>17-21</sup>

# 1.4 lodine-mediated synthesis of cannabinol and objective

Based on existing research, it can be observed that CBN is able to synthesize through condensation which is Friedel-Crafts followed by aromatization with iodine. However, iodine itself is a mild Lewis acid,<sup>22</sup> and it has the ability to catalyze Friedel-Crafts alkylation.<sup>23</sup> So, in this work, we presented the one-pot reaction for synthesis of CBN using iodine as both catalyst and aromatizing agent which was easier and faster way to obtain CBN without the use of metal or hard-to-handle compounds. Then, the protective role of cannabinol derivatives was investigated in the epithelial barrier by observing tight junction opening and resealing using the TER assay, assisted with the Ca<sup>2+</sup> switch assay.

## CHAPTER II

#### EXPERIMENTAL SECTION

#### 2.1 Materials

Reagent-grade chemicals and solvents were purchased from standard suppliers (Fluorochem, Biosynth/Carbosynth, and RCI Lab Scan) and were used as received without further purification.

The resorcinol derivatives, including 5-isopropylresorcinol, 5cyclohexylresorcinol, 5-(1-ethylpentyl)resorcinol, 4,6-dibromoresorcinol, and 4,6dibromo resorcinol, were thankfully received from Mr.Phanomsak Yukhet (TV group research laboratory, department of chemistry, Chulalongkorn university). For other derivatives, they were synthesized through the below procedures.

#### 5-Phenylresorcinol

5-Phenylcyclohexane-1,3-dione (94.1 mg, 0.5 mmol), iodine (25.4 mg, 0.1 mmol, 20 mol%) and DMSO (1.0 mL) were added into screw-cap glass tube, then heated at 80°C for 24 hr. The mixture was quenched with 10% w/v Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, then extracted with ethyl acetate, washed with H<sub>2</sub>O, brine, and dried over anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>.<sup>24</sup> The crude reaction product was purified through silica gel column chromatography (eluting from 0% to 30% ethyl acetate/hexane). 5-Phenylresorcinol was obtained as a brown gum (78.7 mg, 82% yield) which crystallized into pale brown solid; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) **§** 9.37 (s, 1H), 7.53 – 7.48 (m, 2H), 7.44 – 7.39 (m, 2H), 7.35 – 7.30 (m, 1H), 6.45 (d J = 2.1 Hz, 2H), 6.21 (t J = 2.1 Hz, 1H).

#### 5-Naphthylresorcinol

1-Bromo-3,5-dimethoxybenzene (525.3 mg, 2.42 mmol), 1-naphthylboronic acid (344.0 mg, 2.0 mmol), Pd(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>4</sub> (50.8 mg, 0.044 mmol, 2 mol%) Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (500.3 mg, 4.72 mmol) and THF/H<sub>2</sub>O 5:1 (10.0 mL) were added into screw-cap glass tube, then heated at 110  $^{\circ}$ C for 12 hr. The mixture was filtered through Celite and quenched with saturated NH<sub>4</sub>Cl, then extracted with ethyl acetate, washed with

brine, and dried over anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. The crude reaction product was purified through silica gel column chromatography (eluting from 0% to 3% ethyl acetate/hexane).<sup>25</sup> 1-(3,5-dimethoxyphenyl)naphthalene was obtained as a yellow gum (115.1 mg, 22% yield). This compound (0.44 mmol), glacial acetic acid (1.0 mL) and 48% HBr (1.0 mL) were added into screw-cap glass tube, then heated at 130 °C for 4 hr. The mixture was extracted with ethyl acetate, washed with brine, and dried over anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>.<sup>26</sup> The crude reaction product was purified through silica gel column chromatography (eluting from 0% to 30% ethyl acetate/hexane). 5-Naphthylresorcinol was obtained as a grey solid (88.2 mg, 86% yield); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) **§** 9.95 (s, 2H), 8.48 (dd *J* = 8.0, 1.6 Hz, 1H), 8.44–8.38 (m, 2H), 8.09–7.97 (m, 3H), 7.89 (dd *J* = 6.9, 1.2 Hz, 1H), 6.83–6.78 (m, 3H).

4,6-Diethylresorcinol

4,6-Diacetylresorcinol (970.9 mg, 5.0 mmol), concentrated hydrochloric acid (12.0 mL), zinc amalgam (freshly prepared from 5% Hg(CH<sub>3</sub>COO)<sub>2</sub> w/v and 7.5 g of granulated zinc), and ethanol (3.0 mL) were added into rounded-bottom flask, then heated to reflux for 6 hr. The mixture was extracted with ethyl acetate, washed with brine, and dried over anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>.<sup>27</sup> The crude reaction product was purified through silica gel column chromatography (eluting from 0% to 20% ethyl acetate/hexane). 4,6-Diethylresorcinol was obtained as a pale brown solid (550.2 mg, 66% yield); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 6.86 (s, 1H), 6.31 (s, 1H), 5.00 (s, 2H), 2.54 (q *J* = 7.5 Hz, 4H), 1.19 (t *J* = 7.6 Hz, 6H).

#### 5-Bromoresorcinol

1-Bromo-3,5-dimethoxybenzene (434.1 mg, 2.0 mmol), glacial acetic acid (2.0 mL) and 48% HBr (2.0 mL) were added into screw-cap glass tube, then heated at 130  $^{\circ}$ C for 4 hr. The mixture was extracted with ethyl acetate, washed with brine, and dried over anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>.<sup>26</sup> The crude reaction product was purified through silica gel column chromatography (eluting from 0% to 30% ethyl acetate/hexane). 5-

Bromoresorcinol was obtained as a white solid (362 mg, 92% yield); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) **δ** 9.71 (s, 2H), 6.37 (d J = 2.2 Hz, 2H), 6.18 (t J = 2.1 Hz, 1H).

5-Decylamino(oxo)resorcinol

5-Carboxylresorcinol (77.1 mg, 0.5 mmol), *n*-decylamine (99.9  $\mu$ L, 0.5 mmol), triethylamine (1.5 mmol), HATU (190.1 mg, 0.5 mmol) and DMF (2.0 mL) were added into screw-cap glass tube, then stirred at room temperature for overnight. The mixture was filtered and extracted with ethyl acetate and 2N hydrochloric acid, washed with brine, and dried over anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. The crude reaction product was purified through silica gel column chromatography (eluting with hexane). 5-Decylamino(oxo)resorcinol was obtained as a pale brown solid (126.6 mg, 84% yield); <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) **§** 9.45 (s, 2H), 8.20 (t *J* = 5.6 Hz, 1H), 6.63 (d *J* = 2.2 Hz, 2H), 6.32 (t *J* = 2.2 Hz, 1H), 3.16 (m, 2H), 1.46 (t *J* = 7.1 Hz, 2H), 1.24 (s, 14H), 0.85 (m, 3H).

#### 2.2 Spectroscopic measurements

2.2.1 Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy

<sup>1</sup>H NMR and spectra <sup>13</sup>C NMR were recorded on a JEOL JNM-ECZ500R/S1 spectrometer at 500 MHz using chloroform- $d_1$  (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) as the solvent. Chemical shifts were reported in parts per million (ppm) relative to the <sup>1</sup>H signal of the residual CHCl<sub>3</sub> ( $\delta_{\rm H}$  7.26 ppm) or the central peak of <sup>13</sup>C triplet signal of CDCl<sub>3</sub> ( $\delta_{\rm C}$  77.16 ppm).

## 2.2.2 Quantitative NMR (qNMR)

<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra were recorded on a JEOL JNM-ECZ500R/S1 spectrometer at 500 MHz using chloroform (CDCl<sub>3</sub>) as the solvent using methyl 3,5-dinitrobenzoate as the internal standard (I.S.) for quantitative method. Integration of the I.S. signal at 9.19 ppm was used as reference for calculation of the NMR yields according to equation (1).

$$\frac{n_{C}}{l_{C}} = \frac{n_{l.S.}}{l_{l.S.}}$$
(1)

Where  $n_c$  and  $n_{I.S.}$  are moles of the product and the I.S. presented in the crude mixture, respectively, and  $I_c$  and  $I_{I.S.}$  are integrations of the product and the I.S., which are equivalent to one proton, respectively.

## 2.2.3 Infrared (IR) spectroscopy

IR spectra were recorded on Bruker ALPHA II IR spectrometer using in ATR mode. Wave numbers were reported in cm<sup>-1</sup>.

2.2.4 Mass Spectrometry (MS)

High resolution mass spectra were recorded on a JMS-T100LP (AccuTOF<sup>TM</sup> Dart) Mass Spectrometer in positive ESI mode (ESI+) using PEG 600 as an internal standard.

## 2.3 Melting point measurements

Melting point was determined on a Stuart SMP20 Melting point apparatus.



The purity of cannabinol derivatives was determined by Shimadzu HPLC (model RID-20A) with a photodiode array (PDA) detector using 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O eluent system with 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes and Hypersil<sup>M</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column (Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm) from Thermo Fisher Scientific. The peaks were monitored at 254 nm.

#### 2.5 Reaction optimization

2.5.1 Optimization of DMH-CBN synthesis

For the model reaction, (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol (0.2 mmol) and 5-(1,1dimethylheptyl)resorcinol (47.3 mg, 0.2 mmol) were dissolved in 2.0 mL of toluene in screw-cap glass tube, and heated in the presence of iodine (152.3 mg, 0.6 mmol) in an oil bath preheated at 140 °C for 1 hr as the initial test conditions. Subsequently, several parameters were optimized, including the amounts of the starting material and iodine, followed by the iodine sources, reaction times, solvents, temperatures, and additives.

#### 2.5.2 Optimization of CBN synthesis

For the synthesis of natural cannabinol, the terpenoid derivative (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*menthadienol, citral, or geraniol) were reacted with olivetol under the same initial condition as above. Subsequently, some parameters were further optimized, including the amount of iodine, reaction times, and solvents.

# 2.6 Synthesis and characterization of cannabinol derivatives

2.6.1 Synthesis of alkyl-substituted cannabinol derivatives General procedure: The terpenoid (0.3 mmol) and the resorcinol derivative (0.2 mmol) were added into a screw-capped glass tube followed by toluene (2.0 mL) and then iodine (1.0 mmol). The mixture was heated at 140 °C in an oil bath. After 1 hr, the reaction was cooled down, quenched with 10% w/v of  $Na_2S_2O_3$ , extracted with ethyl acetate, and concentrated under reduced pressure. The I.S. (methyl 3,5-dinitrobenzoate, 0.1 mmol) was added to the crude reaction mixture before dissolving in a deuterated solvent, and the yield was determined by qNMR. For isolated yield, the mixture was purified through column chromatography (ethyl acetate/hexane) and the yield was determined gravimetrically.

#### 3-(1,1-Dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN, 3a)

Following the general procedure above using (15,4R)-*p*-menthadienol (48.8 µL, 0.3 mmol) and 5-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)resorcinol (47.3 mg, 0.2 mmol), **3a** was obtained as a brown gum 53.8 mg (71% yield) with 99% purity; melting point: 103–104 °C (lit. 97–98 °C)<sup>28</sup>; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 8.16 (s, 1H), 7.15 (d J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.07 (d J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.56 (d J = 1.9 Hz, 1H), 6.41 (d J = 1.8 Hz, 1H), 2.39 (s, 3H), 1.60

(s, 6H), 1.57–1.51 (m, 2H), 1.25 (s, 6H), 1.23–1.15 (m, 6H), 1.11–1.02 (m, 2H), 0.83 (t J = 7.0 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **\delta** 154.4, 152.8, 151.9, 137.0, 127.7, 127.6, 126.5, 122.8, 108.8, 108.4, 107.8, 77.4, 44.6, 37.8, 31.9, 30.1, 28.8, 27.2, 24.8, 22.8, 21.7, 14.2; IR (ATR): 3435, 2926, 2855, 1800–2200, 1614 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+): m/z calc. C<sub>25</sub>H<sub>35</sub>O<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> for 367.2632 [M+H]<sup>+</sup> found: 367.2618.

For the microwave-assisted reactions, (1S,4R)-*p*-menthadienol (48.8 µL, 0.3 mmol), 5-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)resorcinol (47.3 mg, 0.2 mmol) and toluene (3.0 mL) were added in 10 mL microwave reaction vial, then performed in the CEM microwave synthesis reactor (DISCOVER SYSTEM model) with of 140°C setting temperature and 300 W power for 1 hr. The reaction was then cooled down, quenched with 10% w/v of Na<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, extracted with ethyl acetate, and concentrated under reduced pressure. The 1.S. (methyl 3,5-dinitrobenzoate, 22.6 mg, 0.1 mmol) was added to the crude reaction mixture before dissolving in a CDCl<sub>3</sub>, and the yield was determined for 30% NMR yield.

Cannabinol (CBN, **3b**)

Following the general procedure using citral (255.5 µL, 1.5 mmol), olivetol (180.2 mg, 1.0 mmol), toluene (10.0 mL) and iodine (761.4 mg, 3.0 mmol), **3b** was obtained as a brown gum 68.5 mg (22% yield) with 80% purity; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  8.20 (s, 1H), 7.15 (d J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.08 (d J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.45 (d J = 2.0 Hz, 1H), 6.29 (d J = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 5.51 (s, 1H), 2.54–2.45 (m, 2H), 2.39 (s, 3H), 1.61 (s, 6H), 1.64–1.58 (m, 2H), 1.34–1.31 (m, 4H), 0.90 (t J = 6.9 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>)  $\delta$  154.7, 153.3, 144.6, 137.0, 136.9, 127.7, 126.6, 122.7, 110.8, 110.0, 108.8, 77.5, 35.7, 31.6, 30.6, 27.2, 22.7, 21.7, 14.2; IR (ATR): 3383, 2926, 2857, 1800–2200, 1620 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+): m/z calc. C<sub>21</sub>H<sub>27</sub>O<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> for 311.2006 [M+H]<sup>+</sup> found: 311.1994.

3-Isopropylcannabinol (iPr-CBN, 3c)

Following the general procedure using (15,4R)-*p*-menthadienol (48.8 µL, 0.3 mmol) and 5-isopropylresorcinol (30.4 mg, 0.2 mmol), **3c** was obtained as a brown gum 17.3 mg (30% yield) with 86% purity; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 8.17 (s, 1H), 7.15 (d J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.07 (d J = 8.1 Hz, 1H), 6.48 (d J = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 6.33 (d J = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 5.38 (s, 1H), 2.79 (m, 1H), 2.39 (s, 3H), 1.61 (s, 6H), 1.23 (d J = 6.9 Hz, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 154.8, 153.2, 150.7, 137.0, 137.0, 127.7, 126.5, 122.7, 108.8, 108.1, 77.4, 33.9, 27.3, 23.8, 21.7; IR (ATR): 3387, 2924, 2855, 1800–2200, 1620 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+): m/z calc.  $C_{19}H_{23}O_2^+$  for 283.1693 [M+H]<sup>+</sup> found: 283.1700.

3-(1-Ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe-CBN, 3d)

Following the general procedure using (15,4R)-*p*-menthadienol (48.8 µL, 0.3 mmol) and 5-ethylpentylresorcinol (41.7 mg, 0.2 mmol), **3d** was obtained as a brown gum 19.4 mg (28% yield) with 79% purity; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 8.18 (s, 1H), 7.15 (d J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.07 (d J = 8.8 Hz, 1H), 6.40 (d J = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.25 (d J = 1.5 Hz, 1H), 5.29 (s, 1H), 2.39 (s, 3H), 2.26 (p J = 4.0 Hz, 1H), 1.69–1.55 (m, 2H), 1.60 (s, 6H), 1.54–1.46 (m, 2H), 1.33–1.21 (m, 2H), 1.19–1.09 (m, 2H), 0.83 (t J = 7.2 Hz, 3H), 0.79 (t J = 7.3 Hz, 3H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 154.6, 153.1, 148.1, 137.0, 137.0, 127.7, 126.5, 122.7, 110.1, 109.4, 108.9, 77.41, 47.8, 36.1, 30.0, 27.2, 22.9, 21.7, 14.2, 12.4, 1.2; IR (ATR): 3374, 2917, 2852, 1800–2200, 1619 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+): m/z calc.  $C_{23}H_{31}O_2^+$  for 339.2319 [M+H]<sup>+</sup> found: 339.2333.

#### 3-Cyclohexylcannabinol (Cy-CBN, 3e)

Following the general procedure using (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol (48.8 µL, 0.3 mmol) and 5-cyclohexylresorcinol (38.5 mg, 0.2 mmol), **3e** was obtained as a brown gum 23.5 mg (36% yield) with 100% purity; melting point: 198–199 °C; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **\delta** 8.15 (s, 1H), 7.14 (d *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.06 (d *J* = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 6.46 (d *J* = 1.6 Hz, 1H), 6.31 (d *J* = 1.7 Hz, 1H), 5.20 (s, 1H), 2.40–2.36 (m, 1H), 2.38 (s, 3H), 1.91–1.86 (m, 2H), 1.86–1.80 (m, 2H), 1.59 (s, 6H), 1.41–1.36 (m, 2H), 1.36–1.32 (m, 2H), 1.27–1.21 (m, 2H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **\delta** 154.8, 153.1, 149.9, 137.0, 127.7, 126.5,

122.8, 109.3, 108.5, 77.4, 44.3, 34.2, 27.3, 26.9, 26.3, 22.5, 21.7, 14.2; IR (ATR): 3373, 2928, 2854, 1800–2200, 1620 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+): m/z calc.  $C_{22}H_{27}O_2^+$  for 323.2006 [M+H]<sup>+</sup> found: 323.1996.

#### 2,4-Diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, 3f)

Following the general procedure using (1S,4R)-*p*-menthadienol (48.8 µL, 0.3 mmol) and 4,6-diethylresorcinol (33.2 mg, 0.2 mmol), **3f** was obtained as a brown gum 30.0 mg (48% yield) with 78% purity; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 8.15 (s, 1H), 7.19 (d J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.10 (d J = 7.7 Hz, 1H), 6.88 (s, 1H), 5.19 (s, 1H), 2.67–2.57 (m, 4H), 2.40 (s, 3H), 1.60 (s, 6H), 1.30 (t J = 7.6 Hz, 3H), 1.20 (t J = 7.5 Hz, 3H). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 150.2, 148.8, 138.1, 137.0, 128.6, 128.3, 127.9, 126.3, 125.2, 122.9, 122.0, 111.1, 77.0, 27.0, 23.0, 22.9, 21.7, 15.0, 14.3; IR (ATR): 3274, 2925, 2870, 1800–2200, 1607 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+): m/z calc. C<sub>20</sub>H<sub>25</sub>O<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup> for 297.1849 [*M+H*]<sup>+</sup> found: 297.1855.

Unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0, 30)

Following the general procedure using (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol (48.8 µL, 0.3 mmol) and 4,6-di-*tert*-butylresorcinol (44.5 mg, 0.2 mmol), **3o** was obtained as a brown gum 30.4 mg (63% yield) with 95% purity; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 8.25 (s, 1H), 7.17 (d J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.11 (d J = 7.8 Hz, 1H), 7.03 (t J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 6.61 (d J = 7.6 Hz, 1H), 6.46 (d J = 8.0 Hz, 1H), 5.74 (s, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.63 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 154.9, 153.6, 137.3, 137.0, 128.9, 128.1, 127.4, 126.9, 122.7, 111.4, 110.9, 109.9, 77.5, 27.2, 21.6; IR (ATR): 3363, 2924, 2853, 1800–2200, 1608 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+): m/z calc.  $C_{16}H_{17}O_2^+$  for 241.1233 [M+H]<sup>+</sup> found: 241.1245.

2.6.2 Synthesis of bromo-substituted cannabinol derivatives 4-Bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, **3s**)

Unsubstituted cannabinol (**3o**, 132.2mg, 0.55 mmol) was added into a screwcapped glass tube followed by acetonitrile (15.0 mL). *N*-bromosuccinimide (48.1 mg, 0.27 mmol) were divided into two portions and added at the beginning of reaction and 15 minutes. The mixture was heated at 90 °C for 0.5 hr. The reaction was cooled down, extracted with ethyl acetate, and concentrated under reduced pressure. Next, the crude reaction product was purified through silica gel column chromatography (eluting from 0% to 5% ethyl acetate/hexane). The product **3s** was obtained as a brown gum 54.4 mg (62% yield) with 92% purity; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 8.32 (s, 1H), 7.29 (d J = 8.7 Hz, 1H), 7.16 (d J = 7.9 Hz, 1H), 7.14 (d J = 8.3 Hz, 1H), 6.54 (d J = 8.7 Hz, 1H), 6.11 (s, 1H), 2.41 (s, 3H), 1.61 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 154.4, 149.4, 137.1, 137.0, 130.8, 128.7, 127.5, 126.9, 122.6, 112.3, 112.0, 103.6, 77.8, 27.2, 21.7; IR (ATR): 3484, 2916, 2850, 1800–2200, 1598 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+): m/z calc.  $C_{16}H_{16}^{-79}BrO_2^+$  for 319.0328 [M+H]<sup>+</sup> found: 319.0321.

#### 2,4-Dibromocannabinol (CBN-Br<sub>2</sub>, 3r)

Unsubstituted cannabinol (**3o**, 36.0 mg, 0.15 mmol) and *N*-bromosuccinimide (53.4 mg, 0.3 mmol) were added into a screw-capped glass tube followed by the acetonitrile (4.0 mL). The mixture was heated at 90 °C for 0.5 hr. The reaction was cooled down, extracted with ethyl acetate, and concentrated under reduced pressure. Next, the crude reaction product was purified through silica gel column chromatography (eluting from 0% to 5% ethyl acetate/hexane). The product **3r** was obtained as a brown gum 54.2 mg (91% yield) with 87% purity; <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 8.27 (s, 1H), 7.57 (s, 1H), 7.16 (s, 2H), 6.06 (s, 1H), 2.40 (s, 3H), 1.64 (s, 6H); <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) **δ** 151.0, 148.8, 137.2, 137.1, 133.0, 129.3, 127.7, 126.5, 122.6, 113.4, 103.8, 103.6, 79.2, 27.2, 21.6; IR (ATR): 3481, 2917, 2850, 1800–2200, 1581 cm<sup>-1</sup>; HRMS (ESI+): m/z calc.  $C_{16}H_{15}^{79}Br_2O_2^+$  for 396.9433 [M+H]<sup>+</sup> found: 396.9415.

# 2.7 Ca<sup>2+</sup> switch assay and measurement of transepithelial electrical resistance (TER)

All biological assays were performed by Ms. Pichayapa Sukmak from Chulabhorn Royal Academy under the supervision of Dr. Pawin Pongkorpsakol. T84 cell line at a density of approximately 70–80% confluency in T75 culture flask was trypsinized and seeded into 1.12 cm<sup>2</sup> Transwell insert (5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/Transwell) (Corning Life Sciences, Tewksbury, MA, USA) and cultured for 10 days or when the transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) reached  $\geq$  2,000  $\Omega$  cm<sup>2</sup>. The Ca<sup>2+</sup> switch (or Ca<sup>2+</sup> depletion) assay was performed to induce the disassembly of intestinal tight junction in fully differentiated T84 cell monolayers. In brief, the culture medium of T84 cell monolayers was replaced by S-MEM, a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium, and incubated under 37 °C with 95% O<sub>2</sub>/5% CO<sub>2</sub>. At 16-hr post-incubation, the S-MEM was switched back to a regular medium (DMEM F-12) containing Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Ca<sup>2+</sup> switch) in the presence of cannabinol derivatives. TER measurement was performed using a Millicell ERS-2 Volt/Ohms meter from Sigma-Aldrich co. (St. Louis, Missouri, USA.) to evaluate intestinal tight junction integrity in T84 cell monolayers.

## CHAPTER III

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 3.1 Optimization of DMH-CBN synthesis

Due to the absence of regioselectivity problem, 3-(1,1dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN, 3a) was initially chosen as a model target compound. The synthesis of DMH-CBN was performed using 5-(1,1dimethylheptyl)resorcinol (1a) and (15,4R)-p-menthadienol (2a) as the initial coupling partners in the presence of molecular iodine. The product yield was calculated by using integration of the CBN derivatives characteristic peak, which is the most deshielded singlet peak around 8.1-8.3 ppm (H<sub>a</sub>) compared with the integration of methyl-3,5-dinitrobenzoate at 9.22 ppm (H<sub>I.S.</sub>) that was added as internal standard (I.S.) as shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1 qNMR analysis (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) of 3a compared to I.S.

Encouragingly, the reaction produced the desired product 3a with a yield of 38% when 3 equiv. of iodine were present. The product 3a was then isolated and its structure was confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR, which showed a 1H singlet peak at 8.16 ppm of

the aromatic proton, four 1H doublet peaks at 7.15, 7.07, 6.56, and 6.41 ppm of the aromatic protons, a 3H singlet peak at 2.39 ppm of the methyl protons, a 6H singlet peak at 1.60 ppm of the dimethyl protons on the pyran ring, and a 6H singlet peak at 1.25 ppm of the dimethyl protons on the DMH group. In addition, there were also three multiplet signals (3H, 5H, and 2H) at 1.58–1.49, 1.21–1.16, and 1.10–1.03 ppm of the methylene protons on the DMH chain, and a 3H triplet peak at 0.83 ppm of the terminal methyl proton on the DMH chain as shown in **Figure 3.2**. This result was consistent with the reference spectrum from a previous report as shown in **Table 3.1**.<sup>21</sup>



Figure 3.2<sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 3a

$ \begin{array}{c} 11 \\ 9 \\ 7 \\ 6a \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 11 \\ 11 \\ 2'' \\ 3 \\ 1'' \\ 2'' \\ 1'' \\ 2'' \\ 3' \\ 4' \\ 5' \\ 6'' \\ 7' \\ 1'' \\ 2'' \\ 1'' \\ 1'' \\ 2'' \\ 1'' \\ 1'' \\ 2'' \\ 1'' \\ 1'' \\ 2'' \\ 1''' \\ 1''' \\ 1'''' \\ 1'''' \\ 1'''' \\ 1''''''' \\ 1''''''''''$					
position	<sup>1</sup> H NMR of <b>3a</b>	<sup>1</sup> H NMR from reference <sup>21</sup>			
2	6.41 (d, 1H)	6.41 (s, 1H)			
4	6.56 (d, 1H)	6.56 (s, 1H)			
7	7.15 (d, 1H)	7.15 (d, 1H)			
8	7.07 (d, 1H)	7.07 (d, 1H)			
10	8.16 (s, 1H)	8.18 (s, 1H)			
11	2.39 (s, 3H)	2.39 (s, 6H)			
12–13	1.60 (s, 6H)	1.61 (s, 6H)			
2'	1.51–1.57 (m, 2H)	1.51–1.56 (m, 2H)			
3'-5'	1.15–1.23 (m, 6H)	1.19 (m, 6H)			
6'	1.02–1.11 (m, 2H)	1.06–1.09 (m, 2H)			
7'	0.83 (t, 3H)	0.82–0.86 (t, 3H)			
1''-2''	1.25 (s, 6H)	ทยาลัย 1.25 (s, 6H)			

Table 3.1 <sup>1</sup>H NMR chemical shifts of **3a** compared with the literature data<sup>21</sup>

HULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

The preliminary optimizations involved adjusting the quantities of the starting materials and reagents as detailed in **Table 3.2**. Increasing the amount of iodine to 5 equiv. was found to enhance the product yield (**Table 3.2**, entries 1–3). Due to the rapid decomposition of the terpenoid component in the presence of iodine, as shown by the presence of residual **1a** in the reaction mixtures according to <sup>1</sup>H NMR analyses, the amount of **2a** was increased to 1.5 equiv. This adjustment resulted in an increase in the product yield from 50% to 61% (**Table 3.2**, entry 4). Accordingly, the condition from entry 4 were chosen for further optimization.

НО	+	OH iodine, toluen reflux, 1 hr		
1a	2	a	3a	
Entry	1a	2a	Reagent	Yield <sup>a</sup>
	(equiv)	(equiv)	(equiv)	(%)
1	1.0	1.0	l <sub>2</sub> (3.0)	38
2	1.0	1.0	l <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	50
3	1.0	1.0	l <sub>2</sub> (7.0)	48
4	1.0	1.5	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	61
5	1.0	2.0	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	65
6	1.0	2.5	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	65

Table 3.2 Preliminary optimization of the quantities of starting materials and reagent

<sup>a</sup> NMR yield

Next, the reaction time was optimized. The product formation was almost complete within 1 hr. Thus, prolonging the reaction time to 2 hr proved unnecessary (**Table 3.3**, entries 1–3). To verify the roles and mechanism of iodine, several experiments were conducted. In the absence of iodine, no product was formed, confirming its crucial role in this reaction as both the Friedel-Crafts alkylation catalyst and the aromatizing agent (**Table 3.3**, entry 4). In addition to molecular iodine, potassium iodide (KI), iodine monochloride (ICI), and *N*-iodosuccinimide (NIS) were evaluated as alternative iodine sources. Among these, only the use of ICl provided **3a** in 35% yield (**Table 3.3**, entries 5–7). The yield from ICl was slightly lower in comparison to the reaction utilizing molecular iodine. These experiments confirm that the Friedel-Crafts alkylation reaction requires iodine in its molecular form as shown in **Figure 3.3**, as opposed to the hidden Brønsted acid catalysis mode, which involves ionized forms of iodine.<sup>29</sup>


Figure 3.3 Proposed mechanism of iodine-catalyzed Friedel-Craft alkylation

Regarding the aromatization reaction, it was hypothesized that this process occurs through an addition-elimination mechanism as shown in Figure 3.4.<sup>20</sup> The results from the solvent optimization experiments indicated the effectiveness of nonpolar solvents such as toluene, p-xylene, and carbon tetrachloride (CCl<sub>d</sub>). Among these, toluene was found to be the most suitable solvent, giving a higher yield, and having lower toxicity compared to CCl<sub>4</sub> (Table 3.3, entries 8–9). In the case of other solvents, it was apparent that iodine could potentially be deactivated through a strong halogen bond with the solvent. Consequently, it was likely to further decompose into hydroiodic acid (HI), thereby unable to fulfill the catalytic role of molecular iodine (**Table 3.3**, entries 10-13).<sup>23</sup> When the reaction was performed at a lower temperature, the yield of 3a dropped dramatically (Table 3.3, entries 14-15). To decrease the amount of  $I_2$  used for the reaction, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was added to the reaction mixture as an I<sub>2</sub> regeneration reagent through an oxidation reaction.<sup>30</sup> However, no product formation was observed when a large amount of DMSO was present (Table 3.3, entry 16). This indicates that the reaction is not compatible with polar solvents which is in line with the previous observation. Nevertheless, a small amount of DMSO could be tolerated, although the reaction was not as effective as under normal conditions without DMSO (Table 3.3, entries 17–19). After purification, this method could achieve a 73% isolated yield of **3a** in 1 hr.







HO		* <b>V</b> OH	iodine sources (5.0 eo	quiv.)	Эн	~~~	
<b>1a</b> (1.0 equiv)		<b>2a</b> (1.5 equiv)	<b>2a</b> (1.5 equiv)		3a		
Entry	Reagent	Additive	Solvent <sup>a</sup>	Temperature	Time	Yield <sup>b</sup>	
	(equiv)	(equiv)	. 6. 6.	(°C)	(hr)	(%)	
1	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)		toluene	110	1	61	
2	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	THE REAL PROPERTY OF	otoluene	110	0.5	56	
3	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	-//II	toluene	110	2	64	
4	-	-/////	toluene	110	1	0	
5	KI (5.0)	-///5	toluene	110	1	0	
6	ICl (5.0)		toluene	110	1	35	
7	NIS (5.0)		toluene	110	1	0	
8	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	- 200	<i>p</i> -xylene	120	1	55	
9	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	8	CCl <sub>4</sub>	77	1	66	
10	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)		acetonitrile	82	1	14	
11	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	จุหาลงกรณ์	DMSO	ັຍ <sup>120</sup>	1	0	
12	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	" HIII AI <mark>ONGK</mark> (	HFIP	58	1	trace	
13	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	-	DCM	40	1	trace	
14	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	-	toluene	100	1	31	
15	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	-	toluene	rt	1	0	
16	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	DMSO (50.0)	toluene	110	1	0	
17	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	DMSO (0.5)	toluene	110	1	52	
18	I <sub>2</sub> (3.0)	DMSO (1.0)	toluene	110	1	56	
19	I <sub>2</sub> (3.0)	DMSO (0.5)	toluene	110	1	55	

Table 3.3 Effects of additional reaction parameters including reaction times, iodinesources, solvents, temperatures and additive in synthesis of DMH-CBN (3a)

<sup>a</sup> 2.0 mL of solvent, <sup>b</sup> NMR yield

### 3.2 Optimization of CBN synthesis

After achieving the optimized conditions for the synthesis of DMH-CBN, the conditions were applied to the synthesis of CBN (3b) which is the natural bioactive compound found in the Cannabis plant. This reaction was investigated further to determine alternative ways or the more suitable of condition for the synthesis of **3b**. For the terpenoid starting material, in addition to (15,4R)-p-menthadienol (2a), simpler terpenoid starting materials including citral (a mixture of geranial and neral, 2b) and geraniol (2c) were also tested. The resorcinol component required for the synthesis of **3b** was olivetol (5-pentylresorcinol). The structures of all compounds involved are as shown in Table 3.4. After experimenting with various starting materials under the previously obtained conditions for the synthesis of DMH-CBN, the results showed that geraniol didn't yield the desired product 3b. On the other hand, citral gave **3b** in 17% yield which was comparable to those from (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*menthadienol (18% yield). For the formation of 3b, it was proposed that olivetol acts as a nucleophile and then attacks the carbonyl which is activated with iodine. Consequently, the intermediate undergoes cyclization through a hetero Diels-Alder reaction to form THC (Figure 3.5), which is later aromatized to become 3b. This is a very promising result since citral is an inexpensive starting material (0.78 USD/mL, Sigma-Aldrich) compared to (15,4R)-p-menthadienol (32.27 USD/mL, Biosynth Carbosynth). Consequently, we focused next on the optimization of the reaction between 1b and 2b for the synthesis of 3b.



Table 3.4 Investigation of terpenoids as starting material for synthesis of 3b

Figure 3.5 A proposed mechanism of iodine-mediated reaction between 1b and  $2b^{21}$ , 31

The product **3b** was then isolated and its structure was confirmed by <sup>1</sup>H NMR, which showed a 1H singlet peak at 8.20 ppm of the aromatic proton, four 1H doublet peaks at 7.15, 7.08, 6.45, and 6.29 ppm of the aromatic protons, a 3H singlet peak at 2.39 ppm of the methyl protons, a 6H singlet peak at 1.61 ppm of the dimethyl protons, a 2H multiplet peak at 2.45–2.54 ppm of benzylic protons on the pentyl chain, and a 3H triplet peak at 0.90 ppm of the terminal methyl protons on the pentyl side chain. In addition, there were also two multiplet signals (2H and 4H) at

1.58–1.64 and 1.28–1.37 ppm of the methylene protons on the pentyl side chain as shown in **Figure 3.6** This result was consistent with the reference spectrum from a previous report as shown in **Table 3.5**.<sup>32</sup>



$\begin{array}{c} 11 \\ 8 \\ 7 \\ 6a \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 13 \\ 10b \\ 10b \\ 10b \\ 10b \\ 10b \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1^{\prime} \\ 3^{\prime} \\ 3^{\prime} \\ 5^{\prime} \\ 5^{\prime$							
position	<sup>1</sup> H NMR of <b>3b</b>	<sup>1</sup> H NMR from reference <sup>32</sup>	position	<sup>13</sup> C NMR of <b>3b</b>	<sup>1</sup> H NMR from reference <sup>32</sup>		
2	6.29 (d, 1H)	6.22 (s, 1H)	1	154.7	155.6		
4	6.45 (d, 1H)	6.36 (s, 1H)	2,4	110.0	109.8		
7	7.15 (d, 1H)	7.04–7.14 (d, 1H)	3	144.6	144.6		
8	7.08 (d, 1H) 🥖	6.97–7.03 (d, 1H)	5	153.3	153.0		
10	8.20 (s, 1H)	8.10 (s, 1H)	6	77.5	79.9		
11	2.39 (s, 3H)	2.31 (s, 3H)	6а	136.9	136.9		
12–13	1.61 (s, 6H)	1.55 (s, 6H)	6 7	122.7	122.6		
1'	2.45–2.54 (m, 2H)	2.40–2.50 (t, 2H)	8	127.7	127.5		
2'	1.58–1.64 (m, 2H)	1.61–1.64 (m, 2H)	9	137.0	136.9		
3'-4'	1.34–1.31 (m, 4H)	1.15–1.31 (m, 4H)	10	126.6	126.4		
5'	0.90 (t, 3H)	0.81 (t, 3H)	10a	108.8	108.7		
			10b	110.8	111.8		
			11	21.7	21.6		
			12–13	27.2	27.1		
			1'	35.7	35.6		
			2'	30.6	30.5		
			3'	31.6	31.5		
			4'	22.7	22.6		
			5'	14.2	14.1		

Table 3.5  $^{1}$ H NMR chemical shifts of 3b compared with reference  $^{32, 33}$ 

The reaction time was next optimized (**Table 3.6**, entries 1 and 2), and the results indicated no significant effect on the yield. Consequently, the amount of iodine was decreased from 5 equiv. to 3 equiv. (**Table 3.6**, entries 3 and 4), which led to slightly higher yields. Lastly, some other nonpolar solvents were tested in this reaction (**Table 3.6**, entries 5 and 6), but based on the yields toluene remained the most suitable solvent. The relatively low yield (18% compared to 61% from model reaction) might suggest that citral was sensitive to the excessive amounts of iodine, which exceeded the theoretical requirement (2 equiv. for the aromatization, and catalytic amounts for the Friedel-Crafts reaction and ring closure). This could result in easier decomposition under these conditions. Furthermore, the intermediate from the condensation could produce another side product, cannabichromene (CBC), through the hetero Diels-Alder reaction of the isomerized intermediate (**Figure 3.7**).<sup>21, 31</sup>



Figure 3.7 A hetero Diels-Alder reaction of intermediate leading to CBC<sup>21, 31</sup>

# จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Additionally, in term of resorcinol derivatives, **1b** exhibits less steric hindrance compared to **1a**, which could lead to the formation of another THC isomer (abnormal THC) before aromatization (**Figure 3.8**).<sup>32</sup> This method provided only 18% of CBN, which was lower than the previous report that achieved 55% of CBN. However, this work's method could be accomplished with only one reagent in 1 hr and in one pot, compared to the previous report that required both *n*-butylamine and iodine, a filtration step before aromatization, and an overnight reaction for condensation, along with an additional 3 hr for aromatization. It should be noted that in previous work, it was reported that the direct treatment of these two starting materials with only iodine in their method resulted in a complex mixture and the two step reaction was necessary to produce CBN. Moreover, they only demonstrated the synthesis of CBN from terpenoid and resorcinol derivatives, excluding others that started at the iodine treatment step of CBC derivatives.<sup>21</sup>



Figure 3.8 An alternative reaction of 1b with citral leading to abnormal THC

Table 3.6 Effects of additional reaction parameters including amount of iodine,reaction times and solvents in synthesis of 3b

НО	~ +	io io	dine sources	OH	~~~
<b>1b</b> (1.5 eq	uiv)	<b>2b</b> (1.0 equiv)		3b	
Entry	Reagent	Solvent <sup>a</sup>	Temperature	Time	Yield <sup>b</sup>
	(equiv)		(°C)	(hr)	(%)
1	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	toluene	วิทย <sup>110</sup> ย	1	17
2	I <sub>2</sub> (5.0)	toluene	110	2	15
3	l <sub>2</sub> (3.0)	toluene	110	1	23
4	I <sub>2</sub> (3.0)	toluene	110	2	24
5	I <sub>2</sub> (3.0)	benzene	110	1	10
6	I <sub>2</sub> (3.0)	CCl <sub>4</sub>	110	1	9

<sup>a</sup> 2.0 mL of solvent, <sup>b</sup> NMR yield

### 3.3 Substrate scope

The optimized conditions obtained from both DMH-CBN and natural CBN were subsequently tested with other substrates, as depicted in **Table 3.7**. The

formation of cannabinol derivatives was confirmed by three characteristic signals with a 1:3:6 integration ratio: the most characteristic deshielded peak ( $H_a$ ) typically found around 8.1–8.3 ppm, a 3H singlet peak ( $H_b$ ) around 2.4 ppm for the methyl protons, and a 6H singlet peak ( $H_c$ ) around 1.6 ppm for the dimethyl protons on the pyran ring. For qNMR analysis in substrate scope experiments, characteristic peak ( $H_a$ ) and I.S. peak ( $H_{I.S.}$ ) were used for the calculation of yields, as shown in the example in **Figure 3.9**.



**Figure 3.9** Example of preliminary characterization and qNMR analysis (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) from a crude reaction mixture

To evaluate the scope of the one-pot iodine-mediated synthesis of cannabinol derivatives, the reaction was tested with various combinations of resorcinol derivatives and (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol or citral as shown in **Table 3.7**. The model reaction of **1a** with (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol provided the optimized yields of DMH-CBN at 61%. Another model reaction of **1b** with citral gave natural CBN in 23% yield (**Table 3.7**, entries 1–2). The reactions between (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol with other 5-substituted alkyl resorcinol derivatives, including isopropylresorcinol

(1c), 5-(1-ethyl)pentylresorcinol (1d), and 5-cyclohexylresorcinol (1e), produced 20%, 26%, and 24% yields of the desired products (Table 3.7, entries 3–5). These yields were comparable to that of 1b but lower than 1a, which may indicate the impact of steric hindrance at the 5-position of the resorcinol derivatives. Specifically, 5-substituted resorcinol derivatives possessing small steric hindrance could lead to the formation of other isomers of cannabinoid compounds, such as abnormal cannabinoids, which may result from an attack at C4 or C6 on the resorcinol ring (Figure 3.10) rather than C2 (the carbon atom located between the two hydroxy groups).<sup>32</sup>



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

$HO \xrightarrow{OH} R^{1}$		iodine, tolu + Terpenoids reflux, 1 l		e, toluene ► ux, 1 hr	$ \begin{array}{c}                                     $		
<b>1a-q</b> (1.5 equiv)		<b>2a-b</b> (1.0 equiv)			3a	1-q	
Entry	· Re		sorcinol derivatives		Terpenoids pro		product
	1	$R^1$	R <sup>2</sup>	$R^3$	<b>2a</b> <sup>a</sup>	$\mathbf{2b}^b$	-
1	1a	Н	C(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> C <sub>7</sub> H <sub>15</sub>	1/Hz	61	37	3a
2	1b	Н	C <sub>5</sub> H <sub>11</sub>	H	18	23	3b
3	1c	Н	CH(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	H	20	_C	3с
4	1d	Н	CH(C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub> )C <sub>4</sub> H <sub>9</sub>	H	26	-	3d
5	1e	Н	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>11</sub>	И	24	-	3e
6	1f	$C_2H_5$	H	C <sub>2</sub> H <sub>5</sub>	22	trace	3f
7	1g	C(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	Hircered	C(CH <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub>	47 <sup>d</sup>	trace	30
8	1h	Н	Br	Harris	trace	trace	3h
9	1i	Br	CH <sub>3</sub>	Br	trace	-	3i
10	1j	Br	$C_5H_{11}$	Br	trace	-	3ј
11	1k	Η	WICC <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> SOLU	หาษิทย	trace	trace	3k
12	<b>1</b> l	нСн	C <sub>10</sub> H <sub>7</sub> (Naph)	n Unive	<b>R</b> trace	trace	3l
13	1m	Н	CONHC <sub>10</sub> H <sub>21</sub>	Н	0	0	3m
14	1n	COCH <sub>3</sub>	Н	COCH <sub>3</sub>	0	-	3n
15	10	Н	Н	Н	0	-	30
16	1p	Н	CH <sub>3</sub>	Н	trace	-	3р
17	1q	Н	OH	Н	trace	-	3q

Table 3.7 Substrate scope of resorcinol derivatives (1a-q) and terpenoids (2a-b)

<sup>*a*</sup> NMR yield of cannabinol derivatives from 1 h reaction with 5 equiv. of iodine in toluene, <sup>*b*</sup> NMR yield of cannabinol derivatives from 1 h reaction with 3 equiv. of iodine in toluene, <sup>*c*</sup> experiments that were not performed, <sup>*d*</sup> de-*tert*-butylation product (**3o**)



Figure 3.10 The Friedel-Craft alkylation at C4 or C6 of a resorcinol derivative leading to abnormal CBN

Two 4,6-disubstituted alkyl resorcinol derivatives, 4,6-diethylresorcinol (1f) and 4,6-di-*tert*-butylresorcinol (1g), yielded similar results, giving 22% and 47% of the CBN derivatives (Table 3.7, entries 6–7). However, for the resorcinol substrate 1g, it was observed that both *tert*-butyl groups were eliminated leading to the formation of unsubstituted cannabinol (3o) instead of the expected di-*tert*-butylated compound 3g. The removal of the *tert*-butyl groups was evident as the 18H singlet peak of the two *tert*-butyl group protons at 1.39 ppm could not be observed in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum. In addition, there are five aromatic protons, rather than four, appearing in the range of 6.44–7.13 ppm. Another notable observation is the appearance of a triplet peak at 7.02 ppm ( $H_{Ar}$ ), confirming the presence of two adjacent protons at the 2 and 4 positions as shown in Figure 3.11.



**Figure 3.11** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of confirming the de-*tert*-butylation through absence of 4,6-di-*tert*-butyl groups protons in compound **30** 

It was proposed that the two *tert*-butyl groups were eliminated under the acidic conditions<sup>34</sup> caused by the by-product of the aromatization step, HI, after the formation of the cannabinol derivative as shown in Figure 3.12. As the yield of the product was significantly high, it was believed that the 4,6-*tert*-butyl groups should still present in the resorcinol rings at the beginning of the reaction. If the groups had been eliminated before undergoing the Friedel-Craft alkylation, **1g** would have been converted to **1o** which did not give any CBN product, as indicated in **Table 3.7**, entry 15. Accordingly, the reaction between **1g** and **2a** leading to the product **1o** is proposed as shown in **Figure 3.12**.





Figure 3.12 A proposed mechanism for the formation of **30** through the de-*tert*butylation reaction

After purification, this method could yield **30** in a 63% isolated yield in 1 hr and in one pot. This result is higher and more efficient than a recent report (**Figure 3.13**),<sup>32</sup> which achieved a 36% overall yield from a three-step reaction which included the synthesis of unsubstituted cannabidiol (CBD-C0, 51%), acid-catalyzed cyclization of CBD-C0 to unsubstituted tetrahydrocannabinol (THC-C0, 82%), and aromatization to produce **30** (CBN-C0, 87%). The overall process took 27 hr, not including purification, compared to the developed one-pot method which required only 1 hr.

previous report

CHILLALONGKORN UNIVERSI



Figure 3.13 Comparison of synthesis of unsubstituted CBN (30) between previous report and this work<sup>32</sup>

To further verify the origin of the de-*tert*-butylation, the reaction between **1g** and 5.0 equiv. HI was attempted. The results showed the complete conversion of **1g** to **1o** (Figure 3.14) within 1 hr of the reaction with HI in toluene, suggesting the possible role of HI for the de-*tert*-butylation. Iodine, on the other hand, was not effective for the de-*tert*-butylation as shown by very little removal of the *tert*-butyl group after heating **1g** with iodine (5 equiv.) in toluene for 1 hr. The results showed that most of them still have one *tert*-butyl group remaining on the ring, confirming that de-*tert*-butylation could be performed at the very end of the reaction when there is a significant amount of HI in the mixture.



Figure 3.14 <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectra of reaction crude between 1g and HI compared to 1o

Unfortunately, resorcinol derivatives carrying an electron-withdrawing group instead of the simple alkyl group failed to give the desired products. As seen with 5-bromoresorcinol (1h), 4,6-dibromoorcinol (1i), and 4,6-dibromoolivetol (1j), these compounds with electron-withdrawing substituents through inductive effects produced only trace amounts of the target products. Likewise, resorcinol derivatives

bearing an electron-withdrawing group with mesomeric effects, such as 5phenylresorcinol (1k) and 5-naphthylresorcinol (1l), also generated trace amounts of the cannabinol derivatives. Similarly, 5-decylamino(oxo)resorcinol (1m) and 4,6diacetylresorcinol (1n), yielded no product (Table 3.7 entries 8–14). The results could be explained by the decreased nucleophilicity of the resorcinol derivatives caused by the electron-withdrawing groups might slow down the attack in the Friedel-Crafts alkylation step. Since the terpenoids themselves could not withstand the concentrated iodine conditions for such an extended period, decomposition could occur and depleting the electrophiles in the reaction. Resorcinol itself (1o), as well as other derivatives including orcinol (1p) and phloroglucinol (1q), also did not yield the CBN products (Table 3.7 entries 15–17). For these substrates, it was hypothesized that the reaction was unsuccessful because of the low solubility of these polar resorcinol derivatives in toluene.

Next, the reaction of citral as the terpenoid coupling partner instead of (15,4R)-*p*-menthadienol was attempted with selected resorcinol derivatives including **1a**, **1b**, **1f**-**h**, and **1k**-**l**. However, apart from the resorcinol substrates **1a** and **1b**, other resorcinol derivatives only produced trace amounts of products, approximately 10% or less, which were also lower than those obtained under the (15,4R)-*p*-menthadienol condition. Therefore, it was considered unnecessary to screen the remaining resorcinol derivatives. Finally, seven products which were obtained in more than 20% yield as shown in **Figure 3.15**, were synthesized at 0.2 mmol scale of resorcinol derivatives and purified to obtain isolated yields. Most of these products were obtained in consistent yields comparable to or higher than those determined by <sup>1</sup>H NMR.



Figure 3.15 Structure, NMR yields and isolated yields of cannabinol derivatives

# CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

# 3.4 Synthesis of DMH-CBN via microwave-assisted reaction

With an attempt to improve the yield further, the model reaction between 1a and 1b was further examined under a microwave-assisted condition with 140°C of setting temperature and 300 W of power (Table 3.8, entry 2). The results indicated a production of 3a in 30% yield, which was lower than that obtained using the classical protocol with an oil bath (Table 3.8, entry 1). The %conversion of 2a showed a similar trend, demonstrating that 2a could not endure the concentrated iodine conditions. Nevertheless, the critical difference was observed in the

%conversion of **1a**, which decreased dramatically to 44%. This decrease could be attributed to the fact that only small amounts of **1a** were utilized.

НО	*	OH iodine (5 equiv.), tolue reflux via microwav reactor, 1 hr		$\langle \cdots \rangle$
Entry	Temperature	%conversion of	%conversion of	Yield <sup>c</sup>
	(°C)	1a	2a	(%)
1	110 <sup>a</sup>	88	100	61
2	110 <sup>b</sup>	44	100	30

Table 3.8 Synthesis of 3a under microwave-assisted conditions

<sup>a</sup> heated in an oil bath, <sup>b</sup> heated in a microwave reactor, <sup>c</sup> NMR yield

Based on this evidence, it was proposed that **2a** decomposes more rapidly under the microwave conditions than the classical reflux. Consequently, only a small amount of **2a** could react with **1a**, leading to a larger quantity of **1a** remaining in the reaction. However, it was confirmed that **3a** could also be synthesized under the microwave condition which is easy to handle, quick to set up, and reduces the risk associated with refluxing temperatures.

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

# Chulalongkorn University

# 3.5 Synthesis of unsubstituted cannabinol and bromo derivatives as key intermediates for further derivatization

The C3-unsubstituted CBN (CBN-C0, **3o**) should serve as a versatile intermediate for the synthesis of other cannabinol derivatives. For instance, this compound could be brominated and then used as a starting material in various well-known reactions, such as the Suzuki reaction and the Heck reaction. The first batch of **3o** bromination was attempted using 2 equiv. of *N*-bromosuccinamide (NBS) in acetonitrile (MeCN), resulting in the formation of 2,4-dibromocannabinol (CBN-Br<sub>2</sub>, **3r**) in 90% isolated yield. Its <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum (**Figure 3.16**) clearly showed, in the

aromatic region, that only four protons remained in the structure out of the initial six protons. This suggests that bromination occurred twice on the aromatic ring. In the aromatic region, it showed two 1H singlet peaks at 8.27 and 7.57 ppm, a 2H singlet peak at 7.16 ppm, and a 1H singlet peak at 6.06 ppm of the hydroxy protons. Upon careful examination, the apparent singlet peak at 7.16 ppm with integration of 2H were in fact two proton signals that are strongly coupled to each other. Thus, the structure that is consistent with this spectral characteristic should be the 2,4-dibromo derivative of **1o**. A similar substitution pattern was previously reported in the study of bromination of natural CBN.<sup>35</sup> Moreover, high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) was used to further confirm the elemental composition of **3r**. The mass spectrum showed a peak at m/z 396.9415 [M-H]<sup>+</sup>, close to 396.9433 (calc.), and also revealed the characteristic mass patterns of the dibrominated product, including peaks of M, M+2, and M+4, as shown in **Figure 3.17**.



Figure 3.16<sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of the dibromination product 3r



Figure 3.17 DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 3r

In an attempt to control the bromination rate in order to obtain only the monobrominated product, the amount of NBS was reduced to 0.5 equiv. and it was added in two portions at 0 and 15 minutes. After refluxing for 30 minutes, 30 was transformed into 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s) in 63% isolated yield. The <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum (Figure 3.18) showed five protons in the aromatic region: one characteristic peak at 8.30 ppm and four 1H doublet peaks at 7.29, 7.16, 7.13, and 6.53 ppm of the other aromatic peaks. This spectrum confirmed that only one bromination occurred, and the bromine atom should attach to the carbon on the more electron rich phenol-containing ring resulting in four doublet peaks. To determine the position of the bromine atom in relation to the hydroxy group (either ortho or para), 2D NMR analysis was required. The <sup>1</sup>H-<sup>13</sup>C HMBC spectrum (Figure 3.19) revealed a signal between the 1H singlet peak at 6.09 ppm of the hydroxy proton and the carbon peak at 112 ppm. This carbon corresponds to the one that bears an aromatic proton at 6.54 ppm, as observed in the <sup>1</sup>H-<sup>13</sup>C HSQC spectrum (Figure 3.20). Based on this evidence, it can be inferred that the bromine is located at the para- position of the hydroxy group or the 4-position on the CBN scaffold. HRMS was used to confirm the structure of 3s. Its mass was found at m/z 319.0321

[M-H]<sup>+</sup>, close to 319.0328 (calc.), and also showed characteristic mass patterns of the monobrominated product, including peaks of M and M+2, as shown in **Figure 3.21**. These two reactions could be summarized as shown in **Figure 3.22**.





Figure 3.19<sup>1</sup>H-<sup>13</sup>C HMBC NMR spectrum of 3s

Figure 3.21 DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 3s



Figure 3.22 Bromination of 30 to give 3s and 3r

The introduction of two additional portions of NBS over the course of 1 hr resulted in the formation of another brominated product, which was identified as **3r** that is identical to the product from the first bromination reaction as shown in **Figure 3.23**.



Figure 3.23 Comparison of <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of **3r** obtained from different bromination methods

### 3.6 Measurement of transepithelial electrical resistance (TER)

Cannabinoid compounds have been reported to have the ability to protect the intestinal epithelium barrier from *in vitro* inflammation, resulting in the recovery of junctional permeability and the maintenance of epithelial function. They reported that THC and CBD, especially CBD, showed a protective role on the intestinal epithelium barrier.<sup>7</sup> Therefore, in this work, we are interested in exploring whether CBN derivatives, belonging to the same cannabinoid family, might give promising results. Herein, transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) assay with Ca<sup>2+</sup> assay as a method for tight junction opening and resealing,<sup>12-14</sup> were used to evaluate the activity of CBN derivatives synthesized in this work. The %TER was measured from the barrier tissue model through the recording of voltage with electrodes from both sides of the cell monolayer as shown the results in **Figure 3.24** 



**Chulalongkorn University** 



Figure 3.24 Effect of cannabinol derivatives to change in %TER for 25 and 100  $\mu\text{M}$ 

For **3b**, the natural cannabinol, the %TER values at both 25  $\mu$ M and 100  $\mu$ M showed lower %TER compared to the control (**Figure 3.24**, **3b**). These results indicated a lower potential in terms of tight junction resealing. The DMH derivative **3a** seemed to perform better, as shown in **Figure 3.24**, **3a**, where both concentrations showed an equivalent %TER compared to the control at all time spots. However, **3f**, the diethyl derivative, and **3r** and **3s**, the bromo derivatives, showed promising results at a concentration of 100  $\mu$ M, with **3r** and **3f** also showing good results at 25  $\mu$ M, all of which deviated significantly from the control. This suggests that **3f**, **3r**, and **3s** have the potential to facilitate better in tight junction formation compared to the natural compound **3b**, which might lead to the protection of the intestinal epithelium barrier.<sup>7</sup>



### CHAPTER IV

### CONCLUSION

Herein, we present a facile one-pot method for the synthesis of CBN through a cascade reaction between terpenoids and resorcinol derivatives. It was proposed that the reaction occurred through a Friedel-Crafts alkylation, cyclization, and aromatization reaction sequence, all of which were mediated by molecular iodine which is inexpensive and relatively safe as the only reagent. The reaction proceeded best in toluene and was completed in less than 1 hr. Both conventional and microwave heating could be used, although conventional heating gave a better yield. The reaction is applicable for the synthesis of natural CBN, DMH-CBN, and many other derivatives of CBN carrying different alkyl groups by varying the resorcinol part. However, the method did not work with resorcinol bearing an electron-withdrawing group as well as resorcinol derivatives that were poorly soluble in toluene. Better yields were observed with sterically hindered alkyl substituent on the resorcinol such as in the case of DMH-CBN.

For the terpenoid part, (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol and citral could participate in the reaction. While (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol gave better yields in most cases, the use of citral was attractive because it is an inexpensive starting material and gave acceptable results with natural CBN and DMH-CBN. Interestingly, the reaction between (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol or citral and 4,6-di-*tert*-butylresorcinol provided unsubstituted cannabinol instead of the expected product. Apparently, the *tert*-butyl group was removed under the reaction conditions, possibly by HI generated during the aromatization step. This compound is a potential starting material for the synthesis of other cannabinol derivatives.

The CBN derivatives were tested for biological activities. The transepithelial electrical resistance assay indicated that 2,4-diethylcannabinol, 4-bromocannabinol, and 2,4-dibromocannabinol, appeared to have potential in terms of protecting intestinal epithelial barrier higher than the natural CBN.

To conclude, the developed iodine-mediated cascade reaction between (1*S*,4*R*)-*p*-menthadienol or citral and resorcinol derivatives offers a convenient and safe approach for the synthesis of CBN derivatives in one pot under a short reaction time. However, the study of reaction by-products, improvement of product yields, and adjustment of conditions to accommodate a more diverse range of substrates are required for future work.



### REFERENCES

1. Wood, T. B.; Spivey, W. T. N.; Easterfield, T. H. III.—Cannabinol. Part I. *J. Chem. Soc., Trans.* **1899**, *75* (0), 20-36.

2. Niesink, R. J.; Rigter, S.; Koeter, M. W.; Brunt, T. M. Potency Trends of  $\Delta$ 9-Tetrahydrocannabinol, Cannabidiol and Cannabinol in Cannabis in the Netherlands: 2005-15. *Addiction* **2015**, *110* (12), 1941-1950.

3. Upton, R.; Craker, L.; ElSohly, M.; Romm, A.; Russo, E.; Sexton, M.; American Herbal, P. *Cannabis Inflorescence : Cannabis spp. ; Standards of Identity, Analysis, and Quality Control*; American Herbal Pharmacopoeia Scotts Valley, CA, 2014.

4. Karler, R.; Cely, W.; Turkanis, S. A. The Anticonvulsant Activity of Cannabidiol and Cannabinol. *Life Sci.* **1973**, *13* (11), 1527-1531.

5. Farrimond, J. A.; Whalley, B. J.; Williams, C. M. Cannabinol and Cannabidiol Exert Opposing Effects on Rat Feeding Patterns. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **2012**, *223* (1), 117-129.

6. Scutt, A.; Williamson, E. M. Cannabinoids Stimulate Fibroblastic Colony Formation by Bone Marrow Cells Indirectly via CB2 Receptors. *Calcif Tissue Int* **2007**, *80* (1), 50-59.

7. Cocetta, V.; Governa, P.; Borgonetti, V.; Tinazzi, M.; Peron, G.; Catanzaro, D.; Berretta, M.; Biagi, M.; Manetti, F.; Dall'Acqua, S.; Montopoli, M. Cannabidiol Isolated From Cannabis sativa L. Protects Intestinal Barrier From In Vitro Inflammation and Oxidative Stress. *Frontiers in Pharmacology* **2021**, *12*, 641210.

8. Hollister, L. E. Cannabidiol and Cannabinol in Man. *Experientia* **1973**, *29* (7), 825-826.

9. Karniol, I. G.; Shirakawa, I.; Takahashi, R. N.; Knobel, E.; Musty, R. E. Effects of Delta9-Tetrahydrocannabinol and Cannabinol in Man. *Pharmacology* **1975**, *13* (6), 502-512.

10. Perez-Reyes, M.; Timmons, M. C.; Davis, K. H.; Wall, E. M. A Comparison of the Pharmacological Activity in Man of Intravenously Administered Delta9-Tetrahydrocannabinol, Cannabinol, and Cannabidiol. *Experientia* **1973**, *29* (11), 1368-1369.

11. Rhee, M. H.; Vogel, Z.; Barg, J.; Bayewitch, M.; Levy, R.; Hanus, L.; Breuer, A.; Mechoulam, R. Cannabinol Derivatives: Binding to Cannabinoid Receptors and Inhibition

of Adenylylcyclase. J. Med. Chem. 1997, 40 (20), 3228-3233.

12. Tobey, N. A.; Argote, C. M.; Hosseini, S. S.; Orlando, R. C. Calcium-Switch Technique and Junctional Permeability in Native Rabbit Esophageal Epithelium. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* **2004**, *286* (6), G1042-1049.

13. Gonzalez-Mariscal, L.; Contreras, R. G.; Bolívar, J. J.; Ponce, A.; Chávez De Ramirez,
B.; Cereijido, M. Role of Calcium in Tight Junction Formation between Epithelial Cells.
Am J Physiol 1990, 259 (6 Pt 1), C978-986.

14. Rajasekaran, A.; Langhans, S. Role of Na-K-ATPase in the Assembly of Tight Junctions. *American journal of physiology. Renal physiology* **2003**, *285*, F388-396.

15. Nandaluru, P. R.; Bodwell, G. J. Multicomponent Synthesis of 6H-Dibenzo[b,d]pyran-6-ones and a Total Synthesis of Cannabinol. *Org. Lett.* **2012**, *14* (1), 310-313.

16. Kloss, F.; Neuwirth, T.; Haensch, V. G.; Hertweck, C. Metal-Free Synthesis of Pharmaceutically Important Biaryls by Photosplicing. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl.* **2018**, *57* (44), 14476-14481.

17. Mechoulam, R.; Braun, P.; Gaoni, Y. Stereospecific Synthesis of (-)-.DELTA.1- and (-)-.DELTA.1(6)-Tetrahydrocannabinols. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1967**, *89* (17), 4552-4554.

18. Petrzilka, T.; Haefliger, W.; Sikemeier, C. Synthese von Haschisch-Inhaltsstoffen. 4. Mitteilung. *Helv. Chim. Acta* **1969**, *52* (4), 1102-1134.

19. Razdan, R. K.; Dalzell, H. C.; Handrick, G. R. Hashish. X. Simple One-Step Synthesis of (-)-.DELTA.1-Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) from p-Mentha-2,8-dien-1-ol and Olivetol. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1974**, *96* (18), 5860-5865.

20. Pollastro, F.; Caprioglio, D.; Marotta, P.; Moriello, A. S.; De Petrocellis, L.; Taglialatela-Scafati, O.; Appendino, G. Iodine-Promoted Aromatization of p-Menthane-Type Phytocannabinoids. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2018**, *81* (3), 630-633.

21. Caprioglio, D.; Mattoteia, D.; Minassi, A.; Pollastro, F.; Lopatriello, A.; Mu**ň**oz, E.; Taglialatela-Scafati, O.; Appendino, G. One-Pot Total Synthesis of Cannabinol via Iodine-Mediated Deconstructive Annulation. *Org. Lett.* **2019**, *21* (15), 6122-6125.

22. Dandia, A.; Gupta, S.; Maheshwari, S. Molecular Iodine: Mild, Green, and Nontoxic Lewis Acid Catalyst for the Synthesis of Heterocyclic Compounds. Green Chemistry: Synthesis of Bioactive Heterocycles, 2014; pp 277-327. 23. Bhattacharjee, P.; Bora, U. Molecular Iodine-Catalyzed Selective C-3 Benzylation of Indoles with Benzylic Alcohols: A Greener Approach toward Benzylated Indoles. *ACS Omega* **2019**, *4* (7), 11770-11776.

24. Hurem, D.; Macphail, B. J.; Carlini, R.; Lewis, J.; McNulty, J. A Catalytic, Oxidative Synthesis of Olivetol, Methyl Olivetolate and Orthogonally Protected Methyl Ether Derivatives. *SynOpen* **2021**, *05* (01), 86-90.

25. Sako, M.; Aoki, T.; Zumbrägel, N.; Schober, L.; Gröger, H.; Takizawa, S.; Sasai, H. Chiral Dinuclear Vanadium Complex-Mediated Oxidative Coupling of Resorcinols. *J. Org. Chem.*2019, *84* (3), 1580-1587.

26. Bélanger, P. C.; Lau, C. K.; Williams, H. W. R.; Dufresne, C.; Scheigetz, J. Facile Preparations of 4-Fluororesorcinol. *Can. J. Chem.* **1988**, *66* (6), 1479-1482.

27. Schwarz, R.; Hering, H. *CREOSOL*. Organic Syntheses, 1953. https://orgsyn.org/demo.aspx?prep=CV4P0203#top\_top (accessed 2023-11-09).

28. Khanolkar, A. D.; Lu, D.; Ibrahim, M.; Duclos, J. R. I.; Thakur, G. A.; Malan, J. T. P.; Porreca, F.; Veerappan, V.; Tian, X.; George, C.; et al. Cannabilactones: A Novel Class of CB2 Selective Agonists with Peripheral Analgesic Activity. *J. Med. Chem.* **2007**, *50* (26), 6493-6500.

29. Von der Heiden, D.; Bozkus, S.; Klussmann, M.; Breugst, M. Reaction Mechanism of Iodine-Catalyzed Michael Additions. *J. Org. Chem.* **2017**, *82* (8), 4037-4043.

30. Monga, A.; Bagchi, S.; Sharma, A. Iodine/DMSO Oxidations: a Contemporary Paradigm in C–N Bond Chemistry. *New J. Chem.* **2018**, *42* (3), 1551-1576.

31. Quílez del Moral, J. F.; Ruiz Martínez, C.; Pérez del Pulgar, H.; Martín González, J. E.; Fernández, I.; López-Pérez, J. L.; Fernández-Arteaga, A.; Barrero, A. F. Synthesis of Cannabinoids: "In Water" and "On Water" Approaches: Influence of SDS Micelles. *J. Org. Chem.* **2021**, *86* (4), 3344-3355.

32. Nguyen, G.-N.; Jordan, E. N.; Kayser, O. Synthetic Strategies for Rare Cannabinoids Derived from Cannabis sativa. *J. Nat. Prod.* **2022**, *85* (6), 1555-1568.

33. Choi, Y. H.; Hazekamp, A.; Peltenburg-Looman, A. M.; Frédérich, M.; Erkelens, C.; Lefeber, A. W.; Verpoorte, R. NMR Assignments of the Major Cannabinoids and Cannabiflavonoids Isolated from Flowers of Cannabis Sativa. *Phytochem. Anal* **2004**, *15* (6), 345-354.

34. Kulka, M. t-Butyl as a Blocking Group in the Synthesis of o-Hydroxybenzophenones. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1954**, *76* (21), 5469-5471.

35. Yoshida, H.; Usami, N.; Ohishi, Y.; Watanabe, K.; Yamamoto, I.; Yoshimura, H. Synthesis and Pharmacological Effects in Mice of Halogenated Cannabinol Derivatives. *Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo)* **1995**, *43* (2), 335-337.







**Figure A1.** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 3-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN, **3a**)



**Figure A2.** <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 3-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN, **3a**)



Figure A4. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of cannabinol (CBN, **3b**)

90 80 f1 (ppm)

- 0.002 - 0.000 - -0.002


Figure A5. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 3-isopropylcannabinol (iPr-CBN, 3c)



Figure A6. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 3-isopropylcannabinol (iPr-CBN, 3c)



**Figure A7.** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe-CBN, **3d**)



**Figure A8.** <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe-CBN, **3d**)



Figure A9. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 3-cyclohexylcannabinol (Cy-CBN, 3e)



**Figure A10.** <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 3-cyclohexylcannabinol (Cy-CBN, **3e**)



Figure A11. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, 3f)



Figure A12. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, 3f)



**Figure A13.** <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0, **30**)



Figure A14. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz,  $CDCl_3$ ) spectrum of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0, 30)



Figure A15. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s)



Figure A16. <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s)



Figure A17. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 2,4-dibromocannabinol (CBN-Br<sub>2</sub>, 3r)



**Figure A18.** <sup>13</sup>C NMR (126 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 2,4-dibromocannabinol (CBN-Br<sub>2</sub>, **3r**)



Figure A19. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of 5-phenylresorcinol



Figure A20. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ ) spectrum of 5-naphthylresorcinol



Figure A21. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) spectrum of 5-bromoresorcinol



Figure A22. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, CDCl<sub>3</sub>) spectrum of 4,6-diethylresorcinol



Figure A23. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (500 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>) spectrum of 5-decylamino(oxo)resorcinol



Table A1. %Purity of	cannabinol	derivatives
----------------------	------------	-------------

entry	compound	%purity
1	3-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)cannabinol	99
2	cannabinol	80
3	3-isopropylcannabinol	86
4	3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol	79
5	3-cyclohexylcannabinol	100
6	2,4-diethylcannabinol	78
7	unsubstituted cannabinol	95
8	4-bromocannabinol	92
9	2,4-dibromocannabinol	87



**Figure A24.** HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 3-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN, **3a**); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>™</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector



**Figure A25.** HPLC chromatogram and %purity of cannabinol (CBN, **3b**); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>M</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector



Figure A26. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 3-isopropylcannabinol (iPr-CBN, 3c); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>™</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector



**Figure A27.** HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe-CBN, **3d**) ; analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>M</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector



**Figure A28.** HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 3-cyclohexylcannabinol (Cy-CBN, **3e**); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>M</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector



Figure A29. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, **3f**); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>™</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector



Figure A30. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0, 30); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>™</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector



Figure A31. HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>™</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector



**Figure A32.** HPLC chromatogram and %purity of 2,4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br<sub>2</sub>, **3r**); analytical HPLC (Shimadzu, model RID-20A); Hypersil<sup>M</sup> BDS C18 HPLC Column Dim. 150 x 4.6 mm (Thermo Fisher Scientific); eluent 90% MeCN in H<sub>2</sub>O, 0.5 mL/min flow rate for 10 minutes; PDA UV detector



Figure A33. ATR-IR spectrum of 3-(1,1-dimethylheptyl)cannabinol (DMH-CBN, 3a)



Figure A34. ATR-IR spectrum of cannabinol (CBN, 3b)



Figure A35. ATR-IR spectrum of 3-isopropylcannabinol (iPr-CBN, 3c)



Figure A36. ATR-IR spectrum of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe-CBN, 3d)



Figure A37. ATR-IR spectrum of 3-cyclohexylcannabinol (Cy-CBN, 3e)



Figure A38. ATR-IR spectrum of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, 3f)



Figure A39. ATR-IR spectrum of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0, 30)



Figure A40. ATR-IR spectrum of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s)



Figure A41. ATR-IR spectrum of 2,4-dibromocannabinol (CBN-Br<sub>2</sub>, 3r)





Figure A43. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of cannabinol (CBN, 3b)



Figure A45. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 3-(1-ethylpentyl)cannabinol (EtPe-CBN, 3d)



Figure A47. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 2,4-diethylcannabinol (diEt-CBN, 3f)



Figure A48. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of unsubstituted cannabinol (CBN-C0, 30)



Figure A49. DART-TOF HRMS spectrum of 4-bromocannabinol (CBN-Br, 3s)



## VITA

NAME

Mongkonkorn Thanakorncharoenwit

DATE OF BIRTH 20 October 1997

PLACE OF BIRTH Bangkok

INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED

Bachelor's Degree of Science (Chemistry) in 2020 Chulalongkorn University



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY